

BYLAWS Of The

BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF TOMPKINS AND CORTLAND COUNTIES OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

KNOWN AS TOMPKINS CORTLAND COMMUNITY COLLEGE

PREAMBLE

WHEREAS, on September 16, 1966, the Cortland County Board of Supervisors adopted a resolution approving joint establishment and operation of a community college by the Counties of Tompkins and Cortland; and

WHEREAS, on September 26, 1966, the Tompkins County Board of Supervisors adopted a concurring resolution; and

WHEREAS, the State University of New York approved the establishment of the College on November 10, 1966; and

WHEREAS, a curriculum of liberal arts and business courses were offered and classes began in September 1968; and

WHEREAS, in June 1972, construction began on a new campus site on 220 acres of land in Dryden, New York; and

WHEREAS, in September 1974, classes began at the new site;

NOW, THEREFORE, Tompkins Cortland Community College exists to meet the needs of the residents of its sponsoring communities for comprehensive, continuing post-secondary education.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

			<u>Page</u>
ARTICLE I	THE COLLE	GE	1
	Section 1.	Name	1
	Section 2.	Offices	1
ARTICLE II	THE BOARD	O OF TRUSTEES	1
	Section 1.	Authority	1
	Section 2.	Number of Trustees	2
	Section 3.	Terms of Trustees	3
	Section 4.	Student Trustees	3
	Section 5.	Liaisons to the Board of Trustees	3
	Section 6.	Place of Meetings	3
	Section 7.	Regular Meetings	
	Section 8.	Annual Meeting	
	Section 9.	Special Meetings	
	Section 10.	Quorum	4
	Section 11.	Attendance at Meetings	
	Section 12.	Agenda and Order of Business	
	Section 13.	Rules of Order	
	Section 14.	Conflict of Interest	4
ARTICLE III	OFFICERS C	OF THE BOARD AND COLLEGE	4
	Section 1.	Officers of the Board	4
	Section 2.	Election of Officers of the Board	5
	Section 3.	Officers of the College	5
	Section 4.	Appointment of the President of the College	
	Section 5.	Term of Office and Removal	5
	Section 6.	Resignations of Officers	5
	Section 7.	Resignations of Trustees	
	Section 8.	Filling of Office Vacancies	
	Section 9.	Chairman of the Board	
	Section 10.	Vice-Chairman of the Board	6
	Section 11.	The Treasurer	6
	Section 12.	Assistant Treasurer	6
	Section 13.	Clerk of the Board	6
	Section 14.	Deputy Clerk of the Board	7
ARTICLE IV	COMMITTE	ES OF THE BOARD	
	Section 1.	Authority of Committees	7
	Section 2.	Committees	7
	Section 3.	Executive Committee	7
	Section 4.	Special Committees of the Board	8

ARTICLE V	PRESIDENT OF THE COLLEGE		8
	Section 1.	Appointment	8
	Section 2.	Duties of the President	9
ARTICLE VI	MISCELLAN	EOUS PROVISIONS	9
	Section 1.	Financing of the College	9
	Section 2.	Bank Depository	9
	Section 3.	Books and Records of the College	10
	Section 4.	Compensation to Trustees	10
	Section 5.	Bylaw Limitation	10
	Section 6.	Amendments of the Bylaws	10

* NOTE: Masculine terminology used throughout this document shall be considered a generic term appropriate to either men or women, who shall hold equal status in the College.

ARTICLE I: THE COLLEGE

Section 1. Name

The name of the Community College of Tompkins and Cortland Counties shall be "TOMPKINS CORTLAND COMMUNITY COLLEGE" hereinafter referred to as the "College". The Board of Trustees of the College shall be referred to hereinafter as the "Board".

Section 2. Offices

The principal office of the College shall be located at 170 North Street, Dryden, New York 13053. The College may also have offices at such places within the boundaries of Tompkins and Cortland Counties as the Board of Trustees may designate.

ARTICLE II: THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Section 1. Authority

All the affairs, property, business, and policies of the College shall be under the charge, control, and direction of the Board of Trustees. The Board of Trustees shall concentrate on establishing policies governing the College, and delegate responsibility for the administration and execution of those policies to the President.

The College trustees, subject to the approval of State University trustees, shall appoint the president (whether permanent, acting or interim), establish the conditions of his employment (including compensation and benefits), and assess the performance of the office.

The trustees shall:

- (a) approve curricula, approve budgets, establish tuition and fees within legal limits, approve site and temporary and permanent facilities; and
- (b) provide for the awarding of certificates and diplomas, and the conferring of appropriate degrees on the recommendation of the president and the faculty; and
- (c) upon the recommendation of the president appoint personnel, adopt salary schedules, and approve the organizational pattern of the College; and
- (d) be responsible for the development and maintenance of institutional long and short range planning processes which shall include, in addition to the Board and other internal constituencies, representatives from the total community; and
- (e) from time to time establish agencies as authorized by law which would assist the institution in carrying out its purposes, such as the Faculty Student Association and the TC3 Foundation, Inc.; and
- (f) establish policies which shall govern all operations of the College and include, but not be limited to:

- 1. personnel matters concerning all employees except those policies specifically provided for in negotiated contracts. This would include policies pertaining to appointment, professional development, promotion, and termination of all employees; and
- 2. organization and staffing of the College, including position descriptions which define the responsibilities; and
- 3. assurance of opportunities for student achievement and growth; and
- 4. appropriate on-campus behavior for all members of the College community; and
- 5. authorization and supervision of travel for the purposes of the College; and
- 6. use of College facilities for outside organizations; and
- 7. admission and retention of students: and
- 8. preparation and administration of operational, capital equipment, and construction budgets; and
- 9. establishment and dissemination of all College policies and regulations for the convenience and information of members of the College constituency; and
- 10. fiscal operations of the institution including but not limited to contractual arrangements, budgeting, purchasing, audits, insurance coverage, and accounting.
- (g) Possess and exercise such other and further powers and responsibilities as may be prescribed by law, rule, or regulation with respect to such position.

Section 2. Number of Trustees

The Board is composed of ten voting members: four trustees appointed by the New York State Governor (two residents of the respective sponsoring counties); two trustees appointed by the Cortland County Legislature; three trustees appointed by the Tompkins County Board of Representatives; and one student trustee elected by the student body pursuant to New York State Education Law and regulations.

Section 3. Terms of Trustees

The nine appointed trustees shall be appointed for terms of seven years in annual rotation. The terms of office of all members of the Board of Trustees shall terminate on the thirtieth day of June of the calendar year within which such terms expire. Vacancies shall be filled for unexpired terms in the same manner as original selections by the authority responsible for the original selection. Trustees shall serve until their successors have been appointed and qualified.

Section 4. Student Trustee

A student representative shall be elected to the Board of Trustees prior to July 1 of each year. Each student member shall serve for one year. The term of office for the student trustee shall be from July 1 to June 30. The student trustee shall be elected pursuant to such rules and guidelines promulgated by the State University of New York. Such student trustee shall have all the privileges provided by law and receive all materials distributed to the Board.

Section 5. Liaisons to the Board of Trustees

From time to time the Board of Trustees may request a representative from another agency or group to serve as a liaison to the Board of Trustees. Such a liaison would be invited by the Chairman of the Board to attend all public meetings of the Board of Trustees and to participate in discussions and to present materials, upon request. Such a liaison, however, does not have a vote on the Board of Trustees.

Section 6. Place of Meetings

All meetings of the Board shall be held at the principal office or such other place within the boundaries of Tompkins and Cortland Counties as designated by resolution of the Board and as shall be stated in the Notice of Meeting.

Section 7. Regular Meetings

Regular meetings of the Board shall be held eleven months throughout the fiscal year. A written notice specifying the time and place shall be mailed to all members of the Board prior to each regular meeting. The day of the month for each regular meeting shall be determined by resolution of the Board at each Annual Meeting.

Section 8. Annual Meeting

The Annual Meeting for the election of officers of the Board shall be held immediately prior to the regular monthly meeting in July of each year. Notice of the Annual Meeting shall be written and mailed to all Board members at least ten (10) days prior to the meeting.

Section 9. Special Meetings

Special Meetings of the Board may be called by the Board or by the Chairman with at least one day's notice to each Trustee, delivered either personally, by mail, by wire, or by telephone.

Special meetings shall be called by the Chairman, on the written request of two trustees. The Chairman, in calling a special meeting, shall give due consideration to the request of any trustee as to the time and place of any such meeting.

Section 10. Quorum

At all meetings of the Board, the presence of at least six (6) members shall constitute a quorum sufficient for the transaction of business. An act of the Trustees at a meeting at which there is a quorum shall require six (6) affirmative votes in order to be an act of the Board of Trustees. If a quorum is not present at any meeting of the Board, the trustees may adjourn the meeting from time to time without notice, other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum is present.

Section 11. Attendance at Meetings

Trustees who are unable to attend any meetings are required to inform the clerk as early as possible. The Chairman may cancel and reschedule any meeting where it is indicated that a quorum will be lacking. Notice of any such rescheduled meeting shall be communicated to each trustee in any way the Chairman may elect, but with at least two (2) days notice.

Section 12. Agenda and Order of Business

The President, in consultation with the Chairman, shall prepare and transmit to the members of the Board, an agenda for the meeting, one week prior to each regular meeting. No items shall be considered that are not on the agenda except on the recommendation of the Chairman and by majority approval.

Section 13. Rules of Order

Conduct of business at meetings shall be governed by parliamentary procedure, for which Robert's Rules of Order, as revised, shall serve as authority, except where inconsistent with provisions of these bylaws or applicable New York law and regulations.

Section 14. Conflict of Interest

No member of the Board of Trustees shall be a party to or receive financial gain in any contract or agreement with the College. No member of the Board of Trustees shall enter into deliberations or vote upon any matter in which he has a direct or indirect interest or in which a direct or indirect interest may be implied, other than the interest of the Community College.

No member of the College Trustees or of the local sponsoring governing bodies shall, while serving in that capacity, be eligible for employment by the College.

ARTICLE III: OFFICERS OF THE BOARD AND COLLEGE

Section 1. Officers of the Board

The officers of the Board shall be a Chairman, Vice-Chairman, Treasurer and such other officers as the Board shall determine.

Section 2. Election of Officers of the Board

The Trustees at each annual meeting shall elect from their number a Chairman, a Vice-Chairman, and a Treasurer. The Board may elect an Assistant Treasurer and such other officers as it may determine.

Section 3. Officers of the College

The officers of the College shall be the President, who serves at the pleasure of the Board, and such other officers as the Board shall determine.

Section 4. Appointment of the President of the College

The President of the College shall be appointed by the Board, as provided by law and regulations of the State University of New York, and these Bylaws. In the absence, disqualification or inability of the President to perform the functions and duties of the office, the Board may appoint an Acting President to function as the President.

Section 5. Term of Office and Removal

The officers of the Board shall hold office until the next annual election. Any officer of the Board and of the College elected or appointed by the Board may be removed from his position as an officer at any time by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of all trustees then in office.

Section 6. Resignations of Officers

Any officer may resign from an office at any time by giving a written notice to the Board, or to the Chairman. Any such resignation of an officer shall take effect at the date of the receipt of such notice or at any later time specified therein; and shall have the effect of relieving such officer of further duties and responsibilities of the office.

Section 7. Resignations of Trustees

A Trustee may resign at any time by giving written notice to the appointing entity and the Chairman of the Board. Unless otherwise specified in the notice, the resignation shall take effect upon receipt thereof by the appointing entity and the Chairman of the Board, and the acceptance of the resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.

Section 8. Filling of Office Vacancies

If any office becomes vacant for any reason, that vacancy shall be filled by the Board in the same manner as the original appointment. A vacancy in the office of President of the College, shall be filled only as provided by law and regulations of the State University of New York, and these Bylaws.

Section 9. Chairman of the Board

The Chairman of the Board shall preside at all meetings of the Board; execute all documents on behalf of the Board; transact such other business as required, arising under these Bylaws or other regulations affecting the College; and shall appoint members to all standing committees, if any, provided in these bylaws within one month following the Annual Meeting of the Board. The Chairman shall also appoint any special committees that may be authorized from time to time by the Board. The Chairman shall serve as an ex officio member of all committees with the exception of the nominating committee. The Chairman shall be entitled to vote on all questions before the Board.

Section 10. Vice-Chairman of the Board

The Vice-Chairman shall act as Chairman of the Board in the absence, disqualification, or inability of the Chairman to act or carry on the functions of that office.

Section 11.The Treasurer

A Treasurer shall be elected by the Board of Trustees. The Treasurer shall establish a bank account or accounts in the name of the College and deposit therein, monies received or collected by the College including monies appropriated and paid by the local sponsor, monies received from tuition, fees, charges, sales of products and services, and from all other sources. The Treasurer shall pay all proper bills and accounts of the College including salaries and wages.

The Treasurer shall execute a bond or official under-taking to the Board in such sum and with such sureties as the Board shall require. The expense of such bond shall be paid by the College. The Treasurer may establish and maintain petty cash funds, not in excess of \$200 each, for specified College purposes or undertakings, upon resolution of the Board. The Board authorizes the Treasurer to supervise the auditing of these petty cash funds. The Treasurer shall perform such other related duties and functions as directed by the Board.

Section 12.Assistant Treasurer

The Assistant Treasurer, if appointed by the Board, shall perform all the duties of the Treasurer, in the absence disqualification, or inability of the Treasurer to act or perform the functions of that office, and when so acting, the Assistant Treasurer shall have the powers of, and be subject to all the restrictions upon, the Treasurer. The Assistant Treasurer shall perform such other duties as from time to time may be assigned by the Board, the Treasurer, or the President.

Section 13.Clerk of the Board

The Chairman of the Board of Trustees shall appoint a clerk of the Board. The clerk shall provide due notice for all regular and special meetings of the Board as provided in these Bylaws. The clerk shall cause a record of the proceedings of each meeting to be kept and shall provide each trustee with a written copy of such minutes prior to the next regular meeting for their consideration and approval. The clerk shall be custodian of all records, books, and papers belonging to the Board.

Section 14. Deputy Clerk of the Board

The Chairman of the Board of Trustees shall appoint a deputy clerk of the Board. In the absence of the clerk of the Board, the deputy clerk shall provide due notice for all regular and special meetings of the Board as provided in these Bylaws; shall cause a record of the proceedings of each meeting to be kept and shall provide each trustee with a written copy of such minutes prior to the next regular meeting for their consideration and approval; shall be custodian of all records, books, and papers belonging to the Board.

ARTICLE IV: COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD

Section 1. Authority of Committees

All Board Committees, unless specifically provided otherwise by the Board, are established for the purpose of making recommendations, reporting, informing or advising the Board on matters pertaining to the operation of the College and other functions of the Board. No Committee shall have supervisory, administrative or executive functions. Ordinarily a Committee shall seek detailed knowledge required by the Board in performing its functions and making its decisions, and then communicate that knowledge and the Committee's findings to the Board. No Committee may act in the name of the Board of Trustees unless specific authority for such action has been authorized by the Board.

One member of each Committee shall be designated as Chairman by the Chairman of the Board. In addition, the Chairman of the Board will be an ex-officio member of each committee with the exception of the nominating committee.

All Board members may attend any meeting of a Committee of the Board.

Section 2. Standing and Special Committees

Committees of the Board may consist of the Executive Committee and Special Committees. The membership of each Committee shall be appointed by the Chairman of the Board. Vacancies shall be filled in the same manner.

Section 3. Executive Committee

a. Areas of Responsibility

The areas of responsibility for the Executive Committee include: action as authorized by the Board; general institutional matters; organization and operation of the Board including the professional development of the Board, Board-President relations, new trustees, and advising the President; community relations; affirmative action, staff development, collective bargaining, wages/benefits/conditions of employment, staffing and evaluation, promotions, tenure, and resource development.

b. Functions

The Executive Committee shall have authority to act on behalf of the Board, whenever so authorized by the Board. In an emergency situation the Executive Committee may act and exercise the authority of the Board between meetings of the Board, subject to the ratification of such action at the next regular Board Meeting.

c. Membership

The Committee shall be composed of the Chairman, Vice-Chairman, Treasurer of the Board, and one other Board member. The Chairman of the Board shall serve as Chairperson of the Executive Committee.

d. Meetings

The Committee shall be convened upon at least twenty-four (24) hours notice whenever practicable, when called by the direction of the Chairman or at the request of two members of the Committee. A quorum will be three (3) members. All actions will be subject to the majority vote rule.

Section 4. Special Committees of the Board

There may be, as needed, special committees of the Board appointed by the Chairman of the Board of Trustees. Such committees include, but are not limited to, Nominating, Bylaws, and Event Planning, and would be for institutional and quasi-standing purposes. Such Committees shall be composed of three (3) members, no two of which shall sit together on another special committee. Such committees will meet as needed when directed by the Chairman.

ARTICLE V: PRESIDENT OF THE COLLEGE

Section 1. Appointment

The Board of Trustees shall appoint and employ a qualified President of the College upon a two-thirds (2/3) affirmative vote of the Trustees then in office, and pursuant to New York law and regulations and subject to approval by the Trustees of the State University of New York. The President of the College shall serve at the pleasure of the College's Board of Trustees, and his services may be terminated by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the Trustees then in office.

The President of the College, as chief executive officer responsible to the Board of Trustees, is responsible for providing general educational effectiveness of the institution in all its aspects.

Section 2. Duties of the President

The President shall perform the following duties and provide the leadership and direction to:

- (a) Carry out, execute, and administer all policies of the College trustees and the State University Trustees;
- (b) Formulate and present to the Board of Trustees with recommendations for action all matters of major importance to the institution including but not limited to:
 - 1. programs, curricula, and educational and student services;
 - 2. granting of degrees or certificates;
 - 3. major financial matters and budgets;
 - 4. salary ranges and salaries;
 - 5. personnel appointments, promotions, retention, dismissal, retrenchment, sabbatical and other leaves of absence, and position descriptions;
 - 6. organizational structure; and
 - 7. planning and management of facilities.
- (c) Administer collective negotiations, agreements and personnel policies;
- (d) Submit an annual report on the operation of the College to the College trustees, and prepare such other reports as the trustees or State University of New York may require;
- (e) Establish and cultivate a governance system for the College which shall recognize the role of members of the College community in the administration and advancement of the College;
- (f) Consummate all contracts related to College operations as authorized by the Board of Trustees.

ARTICLE VI: MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Section 1. Financing the College

Subject to approval of the county sponsors, financing of the College will conform to the pertinent requirements of Section 6304 of the New York State Education Law.

Section 2. Bank Depository

All funds of the College shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of the College at such banks, trust companies or other depositories as the Board may approve or designate.

Section 3. Books and Records of the College

All books and records of the Board proceedings and other official College documents shall be kept at the principal office of the College, unless otherwise specified in these Bylaws or by the Board of Trustees and maintained therein by the clerk of the Board of Trustees.

Section 4. Compensation to Trustees

Trustees shall receive no compensation for their services but shall be reimbursed, as the Board may direct, for their expenses actually and necessarily incurred in the performance of their duties.

Section 5. Bylaw Limitation

Nothing in these Bylaws shall violate or be construed to violate any law of the State of New York or of the Counties of Tompkins or Cortland, or any applicable regulation of the State University of New York.

Section 6. Amendments of the Bylaws

The Bylaws may be amended by an act of the Board by six (6) affirmative votes, providing notice of the proposed amendment shall have been submitted at the prior regularly scheduled meeting of the Board of Trustees.

By:	
•	Chairman, Board of Trustees
By:	
27.	Clerk, Board of Trustees

RECOMMENDED GUIDELINES FOR LENGTH OF SERVICE IN BOARD OFFICES AND ON COMMITTEES

The Board of Trustees of Tompkins Cortland Community College has deemed it desirable to rotate committee assignments and Board offices on a regular basis.

In order to best serve the needs of the College, it is the intent of the Board to limit service as follows:

Committee membership - it is recommended that membership on an individual committee be limited to a maximum of three consecutive years.

Officers of the Board - it is recommended that service in the same office be limited to a maximum of five consecutive years.

It is further recommended that these guidelines be appended to the Bylaws of the Board of Trustees of Tompkins Cortland Community College.

7/15/85 – No resolution number